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STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. MARK YOUNG
(AC 40581)
Lavine, Sheldon and Norcott, Js.
Syllabus
Convicted, on guilty pleas, of the crimes of operating a motor vehicle while
under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs and evading responsibility in the operation of a motor vehicle, and of previously having been
convicted of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of
intoxicating liquor or drugs, the defendant appealed to this court. He
claimed, inter alia, that the trial court improperly denied his motion to
withdraw and vacate his guilty pleas. Specifically, he claimed that there
was no factual basis that he had a prior conviction for operating a motor
vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs to
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support his guilty plea to operating while under the influence as a second
offender pursuant to statute (§ 14-227a [a] and [g]). Held:
1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant’s
motion to withdraw and vacate his guilty pleas:
a. The trial court’s plea canvass established an adequate factual basis
for the defendant’s guilty pleas; the state provided the court with a
part B information that alleged that the defendant previously had been
convicted, on a plea of nolo contendere, in Rhode Island of driving
while under the influence, which the court and clerk read aloud to the
defendant, and which specified the date of the prior conviction, the
town in which it was entered and the name of the prior charge of
which he was convicted, the defendant indicated that he understood
the allegations and admitted that he was a second offender when asked
by the court clerk, and the defendant agreed with the state’s factual
recitation in which the prosecutor expressly stated that the defendant
previously had been convicted of operating under the influence in
Rhode Island.
b. The defendant could not prevail in his claim that the final disposition
of his Rhode Island case was not a conviction for operating while under
the influence on the basis of which he could be convicted as a second
offender in Connecticut: the Rhode Island statute under which the defendant was convicted defines the offense of driving under the influence
as a misdemeanor, indicating that it is a criminal offense subject to
criminal penalties, the Rhode Island criminal complaint indicated that
the defendant was sentenced to the mandatory minimum sentence of
a $100 fine, ten hours of public community restitution, a thirty day loss
of his driver’s license, alcohol counseling, costs, fees, and assessments,
and the defendant’s claim that the Rhode Island disposition should be
interpreted as a plea of nolo contendere followed by probation, which,
if successfully completed, would not be considered a conviction under
Rhode Island law, was unavailing, as he did not prove the Rhode Island
disposition resulted in the imposition of a probationary sentence on
him, much less that he had completed such a sentence, and thus he never
became entitled not to have his plea and resulting sentence considered
a criminal conviction; moreover, the subsequent expungement of the
defendant’s Rhode Island conviction did not affect the trial court’s consideration of that conviction for the purpose of imposing an enhanced
penalty on him, as the relevant time for sentence enhancement purposes
was the time of the defendant’s criminal conduct in Connecticut in
March, 2016, and at that time the Rhode Island conviction had not
been expunged.
c. The defendant’s claims that the trial court erred because insufficient
evidence was presented to that court at the time of his guilty pleas to
establish that the essential elements of the Rhode Island statute under
which he was convicted were substantially similar to those of the Connecticut statute, § 14-227a, and that the trial court erred by never making
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such a finding were unavailing; even though the court was under no
duty to question the similarity of the two statutes without a challenge
from the defendant that they were dissimilar, the court properly found
that the essential elements of the two statutes were substantially the
same at the hearing on the defendant’s motion to withdraw his guilty
pleas, as the essential elements of the two statutes both required that
the accused operate a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs, and the level of blood alcohol content at or
above which a diver’s operation of a motor vehicle is criminalized is
identical under both statutes, and the court properly rejected the defendant’s claims that the statutes were dissimilar on the basis of their
definitions of operation and motor vehicle, and the lack of a pretrial
alcohol education program under the Rhode Island statute.
2. The trial court imposed an illegal sentence on the defendant for operating
a motor vehicle while under the influence as a second offender: although
this court rejected the defendant’s claim that the trial court relied on
materially inaccurate information during sentencing, the three year sentence imposed for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence
as a second offender exceeded the statutory maximum prescribed by
law of two years of incarceration.
Argued September 17, 2018—officially released January 1, 2019
Procedural History

Two part information charging the defendant, in the
first part, with the crimes of operating a motor vehicle
while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs
and evading responsibility in the operation of a motor
vehicle, and with speeding and operating a motor vehicle without minimum insurance, and, in the second part,
with previously having been convicted of operating a
motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating
liquor or drugs, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of Windham, where the defendant was presented to the court, J. Fischer, J., on guilty pleas to the
charges of operating a motor vehicle while under the
influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs and evading
responsibility in the operation of a motor vehicle, and to
previously having been convicted of operating a motor
vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor
or drugs; judgment of guilty in accordance with the
pleas; thereafter, the state entered a nolle prosequi as
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to the charges of speeding and operating a motor vehicle
without minimum insurance; subsequently, the court
denied the defendant’s motion to withdraw and vacate
his guilty pleas, and the defendant appealed to this
court. Reversed in part; further proceedings.
Jonathan R. Sills, for the appellant (defendant).
Margaret Gaffney Radionovas, senior assistant
state’s attorney, with whom were Bonnie R. Bentley,
senior assistant state’s attorney, and, on the brief, Anne
F. Mahoney, state’s attorney, for the appellee (state).
Opinion

SHELDON, J. The defendant, Mark Young, appeals
from the judgment of conviction rendered after his
guilty pleas to charges of operating a motor vehicle
while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs
in violation of General Statutes § 14-227a (a) and evading responsibility in the operation of a motor vehicle
in violation of General Statutes § 14-224 (b) (3), and to
previously having been convicted of operating a motor
vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor
or drugs in violation of § 14-227a (g). The defendant
claims that: (1) the court abused its discretion by denying his motion to withdraw and vacate guilty pleas pursuant to Practice Book §§ 39-26 and 39-27 because there
was no factual basis for his plea of guilty to § 14-227a
(a) and (g) for operating a motor vehicle while under
the influence as a second offender; and (2) the court
imposed an illegal sentence upon him for operating a
motor vehicle while under the influence as a second
offender that exceeded the statutory maximum for that
offense, and did so in an illegal manner because it relied
on materially inaccurate information concerning his
criminal record. We affirm the judgment of the trial
court in denying the defendant’s motion to withdraw,
but conclude that the sentence imposed on him exceeds
the statutory maximum for the offense of operating a
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motor vehicle while under the influence as a second
offender. Accordingly, we vacate the defendant’s sentences on all charges and remand this case to the trial
court for resentencing under the terms of the original
plea agreement, in accordance with the law.
The following facts and procedural history are relevant to our resolution of the defendant’s claims. On
March 24, 2016, the Connecticut State Police arrested
the defendant for operating a motor vehicle while under
the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs in violation
of § 14-227a (a), evading responsibility in the operation
of a motor vehicle in violation of § 14-224 (b) (3),1 speeding in violation of General Statutes § 14-219 (c) (2)2 and
operating a motor vehicle without minimum insurance
in violation of General Statutes § 14-213b.3 On October
11, 2016, the state filed a part B Information pursuant
1

General Statutes § 14-224 provides in relevant part: ‘‘(b) (3) Each operator
of a motor vehicle who is knowingly involved in an accident that causes
. . . damage to property shall at once stop and render such assistance as
may be needed and shall give such operator’s name, address and operator’s
license number and registration number to the owner of the . . . damaged
property . . . .
***
‘‘(g) (2) Any person who violates the provisions of subdivision (3) of
subsection (b) . . . shall be fined not less than seventy-five dollars or more
than six hundred dollars or be imprisoned not more than one year or be
both fined and imprisoned . . . .’’
2
General Statutes § 14-219 (c) provides in relevant part: ‘‘Any person who
. . . operates a motor vehicle . . . (2) on any other highway at a rate of
speed greater than sixty miles per hour but not greater than eighty-five
miles per hour, shall be fined not less than one hundred dollars nor more
than one hundred fifty dollars . . . .’’
3
General Statutes § 14-213b provides in relevant part: ‘‘(a) No owner of
any private passenger motor vehicle . . . registered or required to be registered in this state may operate . . . such vehicle without the security
required by section 38a-371 or with security insufficient to meet the minimum
requirements of said section, or without any other security requirements
imposed by law, as the case may be. . . .
‘‘(b) Any person convicted of violating any provision of subsection (a) of
this section shall be fined not less than one hundred dollars or more than
one thousand dollars . . . .’’
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to Practice Book § 36-14,4 alleging that ‘‘[o]n . . .
[October 19, 2011], in the [Rhode Island] Superior Court
. . . [in] Providence, the defendant . . . was convicted of the offense of driving under the influence in
violation of . . . [Rhode Island] General Laws.’’ At a
hearing before the trial court on that same date, the
defendant indicated that he wished to withdraw his
prior pleas of not guilty and enter pleas of guilty under
an agreement with the state. The following exchange
ensued:
‘‘The Court: Okay. You understand that the prosecutors here in Danielson Superior Court charge that you’ve
been formerly convicted, having committed the offense
of operating—driving under the influence on October,
19, 2011, in Rhode Island Superior Court in Providence
in violation of the Rhode Island general statutes. You
understand that.
‘‘The Defendant: Yes.
‘‘The Court: Okay.
‘‘The Clerk: Mark Young, on or about March 24th of
2016, you’re charged with operating under the influence
in violation of 14-227a. How do you plead, guilty or
not guilty?
‘‘The Defendant: Guilty.
‘‘The Clerk: And on that charge, you’re being charged
by the second part information as a subsequent offender
4
‘‘Where the information alleges, in addition to the principal offense
charged, a former conviction or convictions, such information shall be in
two separate parts, each signed by the prosecuting authority. In the first
part, the particular offense with which the accused is charged shall be set
out, and in the other part the former conviction or convictions shall be
alleged. In alleging the former conviction, it is sufficient that the information
allege the date when, the town or city where, and the court wherein such
conviction was obtained and the crime of which the defendant was convicted, all of which may be stated in accordance with the provisions of
Section 36-13.’’ Practice Book § 36-14.
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for operating under the influence in that you were previously convicted of this charge in Rhode Island Superior Court on October 19, 2011. To being a second
offender for operating under the influence how do you
plead, guilty or not guilty?
‘‘The Defendant: Guilty.
‘‘The Clerk: Anything else?
‘‘[The Prosecutor]: Evading.
‘‘The Clerk: And on or about March 24 of 2016, you’re
charged with evading responsibility in violation of § 14224 (b) (3). How do you plead, guilty or not guilty?
‘‘The Defendant: Guilty.’’
The state then recited the following facts regarding
the incident that led to the defendant’s arrest: ‘‘On
March 24, 2016, in the late evening hours, this defendant
was clocked at a hundred and three miles per hour in
a fifty mile an hour zone on Route 32 in Windham. He
was pulled over. [The] [o]fficer detected an odor of
alcohol. When he spoke with this defendant, who had
originally switched places with his passenger, but then
admitted that he was actually the driver—[he] failed
to perform [the] standard field sobriety test; admitted
consuming alcohol; [and] refused chemical tests. It was
learned during this time that the defendant had been
involved just a short time earlier in a motor vehicle
incident where he struck another vehicle from behind
causing minor damage, no injuries, but then fled the
scene. We have an agreement in this matter. I would
note that he had previously been convicted of operating
under the influence in Rhode Island in 2011.’’ The court
proceeded with the plea canvass, during which it asked
the defendant, ‘‘And you heard the state’s attorney
recite the facts which led to your arrest on the date in
question; also a prior conviction. Is that all pretty much
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what happened?’’ The defendant answered in the affirmative.
The court accepted the pleas and the state informed
the court that the plea agreement called for ‘‘a total
effective sentence of three years, execution suspended
after five months—120 days of which are the mandatory
minimum for . . . operating under the influence—two
years’ probation and a $1,000 fine with numerous special conditions . . . .’’ The court then set a date for
sentencing and ordered a presentence investigation. At
the next scheduled court date on December 14, 2016,
new counsel for the defendant entered his appearance
and filed a motion to withdraw the guilty pleas the
defendant had entered on October 11, 2016.
In his motion to withdraw, the defendant argued that
there was no factual basis for his guilty plea to the
charge of operating while under the influence as a second offender, as alleged in the part B information,
because (1) his 2011 Rhode Island case did not result
in a conviction, (2) even if his Rhode Island case did
result in a conviction, that conviction was expunged
on December 19, 2016, between the date of his guilty
pleas in this case and the date of sentencing, so that it
could no longer be considered a conviction for sentence
enhancement purposes under General Statutes § 14227a (g), and (3) the essential elements of operating
under the influence while under the Rhode Island statute under which he was allegedly convicted, Rhode
Island General Laws § 31-27-2,5 were not substantially
the same as those of § 14-227a (a) (1) or (2), as required
for a conviction as a second offender based upon a
prior out-of-state conviction pursuant to § 14-227a (g).6
5

Hereinafter, unless otherwise indicated, all references to § 31-27-2 in this
opinion are to the 2010 revision of the statute.
6
The motion to withdraw included a request to withdraw guilty pleas to
both operating a motor vehicle while under the influence as a second
offender and evading responsibility in the operation of a motor vehicle. No
separate grounds were raised in the motion to withdraw with respect to
evading responsibility, but both charges were included in the original plea
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After a hearing on the motion to withdraw, the court
found that (1) the disposition of the defendant’s 2011
Rhode Island case was in fact a conviction, (2) the later
expungement of the defendant’s Rhode Island conviction did not negate the fact that he had a prior conviction
for operating while under the influence at the time of
the conduct underlying his present conviction, and (3)
the essential elements of the statute under which the
defendant was convicted in Rhode Island, § 31-27-2, are
substantially the same as those of § 14-227a (a) (1) and
(2).7 Accordingly, the court denied the defendant’s
motion to withdraw. On June 26, 2017, the court sentenced the defendant as follows: on the charge of
operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of
liquor or drugs as a second offender, the defendant was
sentenced to a term of three years of incarceration, execution suspended after five months, 120 days of which
was a mandatory minimum, followed by two years of probation; and on the charge of evading responsibility, he
was sentenced to a concurrent term of one year incarceration, execution suspended after thirty days, followed by two years of probation.8 This appeal followed.
Additional facts will be set forth as necessary.
I
The defendant first claims that the trial court improperly denied his motion to withdraw because his guilty
plea to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence as a second offender was not supported by a
factual basis, and thus it was not entered voluntarily or
agreement that was negotiated with the state and, thus, both were also
included in the motion to withdraw.
7
The defendant also raised a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel
in his motion to withdraw but abandoned that claim at the May 19, 2017
hearing on the motion.
8
The state entered nolle prosequis on the charges of speeding in violation
of § 14-219 (c) (2) and operating a motor vehicle without minimum insurance
in violation of § 14-213b at sentencing on June 26, 2017.
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intelligently or in compliance with the rules of practice.
Specifically, he contends that there was no factual basis
that he had a prior conviction for operating while under
the influence to support his guilty plea to operating
while under the influence as a second offender in violation of § 14-227a (a) and (g). We disagree.
‘‘As a preliminary matter, we set forth the applicable
standard of review. It is well established that [t]he burden is always on the defendant to show a plausible
reason for the withdrawal of a plea of guilty. . . . To
warrant consideration, the defendant must allege and
provide facts which justify permitting him to withdraw
his plea under [Practice Book § 39-27]. . . . Whether
such proof is made is a question for the court in its sound
discretion, and a denial of permission to withdraw is
reversible only if that discretion has been abused. . . .
In determining whether the trial court [has] abused
its discretion, this court must make every reasonable
presumption in favor of [the correctness of] its action.
. . . Our review of a trial court’s exercise of the legal
discretion vested in it is limited to the questions of
whether the trial court correctly applied the law and
could reasonably have reached the conclusion that it
did. . . .
‘‘Motions to withdraw guilty pleas are governed by
Practice Book §§ 39-26 and 39-27. Practice Book § 3926 provides in relevant part: A defendant may withdraw
his . . . plea of guilty . . . as a matter of right until the
plea has been accepted. After acceptance, the judicial
authority shall allow the defendant to withdraw his plea
upon proof of one of the grounds in [Practice Book §] 3927. . . . We further observe that there is no language
in Practice Book §§ 39-26 and 39-27 imposing an affirmative duty upon the court to conduct an inquiry into
the basis of a defendant’s motion to withdraw his guilty
plea.’’ (Emphasis in original; citation omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) State v. Simpson, 329 Conn.
820, 836–37, 189 A.3d 1215 (2018).
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‘‘Furthermore, in assessing the adequacy of the trial
court’s consideration of a motion to withdraw a guilty
plea, we do not examine the dialogue between defense
counsel and the trial court . . . in isolation but, rather,
evaluate it in light of other relevant factors, such as
the thoroughness of the initial plea canvass.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Id., 838.
Practice Book § 39-27 provides in relevant part: ‘‘The
grounds for allowing the defendant to withdraw his or
her plea of guilty after acceptance are as follows . . .
(5) there was no factual basis for the plea . . . .’’ ‘‘A
factual basis exists where the facts before the court
are sufficient to establish each and every element of
the crime charged.’’ State v. Pena, 16 Conn. App. 518,
523, 548 A.2d 445, cert. denied, 209 Conn. 830, 552 A.2d
1217 (1988). ‘‘In determining whether a factual basis
exists, the court may consider the facts recited by the
state’s attorney as well as any other facts properly submitted to the court which support a conviction.’’ Id.
Moreover, ‘‘[a] court is permitted to rely on a defendant’s responses during a plea canvass.’’ State v. Hanson, 117 Conn. App. 436, 449, 979 A.2d 576 (2009), cert.
denied, 295 Conn. 907, 989 A.2d 604 (2010), cert. denied,
562 U.S. 986, 131 S. Ct. 425, 178 L. Ed. 2d. 331 (2010).
‘‘The [trial] court is under no constitutionally imposed
duty to establish a factual basis for a guilty plea prior
to its acceptance unless the [trial] judge is put on notice
that there may be some need for such an inquiry . . .
A factual basis inquiry . . . is merely one way of satisfying the constitutional requirement that a plea be voluntary and intelligent.’’ (Citations omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Paulsen v. Manson, 203
Conn. 484, 490–91, 525 A.2d 1315 (1987).
‘‘[T]he constitutional stricture that a plea of guilty
must be made knowingly and voluntarily . . . requires
not only that there be a voluntary waiver during a plea
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canvass of the right to a jury trial, the right of confrontation and the right against self-incrimination, but also
that the defendant must be aware of and have an understanding of all of the elements of the crime or crimes
with which he is charged. . . . [T]he plea could not be
voluntary in the sense that it constituted an intelligent
admission that he committed the offense unless the
defendant received real notice of the true nature of
the charge against him, the first and most universally
recognized requirement of due process.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Heyliger, 114 Conn. App.
193, 197, 969 A.2d 194 (2009).
The purpose of establishing a factual basis for a
defendant’s guilty plea is to ensure that he has notice
of the charges to which he is pleading. To establish a
factual basis for the defendant’s plea to operating a
motor vehicle while under the influence as a second
offender, the state provided the court with the part B
information alleging his prior conviction, which the
court and its clerk read aloud to the defendant, specifying the date of his prior conviction, the town in which
the conviction was entered, and the name of the prior
charge of which he was convicted, to wit: ‘‘driving under
the influence.’’ After being informed of these allegations, the defendant indicated to the court that he understood the allegations and was pleading guilty on the
basis of them. He admitted that he was a second
offender when he was so asked by the court clerk, and
agreed to the state’s factual recitation, in which the
prosecutor expressly stated that he had previously been
convicted of operating while under the influence in
Rhode Island. The detail in the part B information that
was brought to the defendant’s attention three times
during his plea canvass was sufficient to give the defendant notice of the allegations concerning his prior conviction, and thus to ensure that his plea to the part B
information was voluntary and intelligent.
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Although the plea canvass alone furnished an adequate basis for the court’s conclusion that his plea to
the part B information was supported by a sufficient
factual basis for the denial of his motion to withdraw,
the court heard the defendant fully on his motion and
made detailed factual findings as to each claim presented in that motion. Because he reasserts those
claims on appeal, we address them each in turn.
A
First, the defendant claims that the final disposition
of his Rhode Island case was not a conviction for operating while under the influence on the basis of which
he could be convicted as a second offender in Connecticut. Specifically, he argues that (1) the Rhode Island
criminal complaint is unclear as to the nature of his
final disposition, making it impossible to determine if
that case actually resulted in a conviction, (2) under
his Rhode Island disposition, which was ordered after
he entered a plea of nolo contendere, he was required
to complete several special conditions, suggesting that
he must have been placed on probation in order for
those conditions to be monitored, and thereby raising
the possibility that, upon successful completion of his
probation, he may have been entitled not to have his
disposition considered a conviction under Rhode Island
law, and (3) the record of his alleged Rhode Island conviction was expunged after he pleaded guilty to the
charges in Connecticut, but before he was sentenced on
those pleas, assertedly making the expunged conviction
unusable as a prior conviction under § 14-227a (g). We
do not agree.
The following additional facts are necessary for our
disposition of these claims. In support of his motion to
withdraw, the defendant submitted a copy of the criminal complaint from the Rhode Island District Court in
Providence to which he had pleaded nolo contendere
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on October 19, 2011. The court examined that document
at the hearing on the motion to withdraw. The document
indicates that the defendant was initially charged with
one count of violating ‘‘[Rhode Island] General Laws
§ 31-27-2 D1, DUI/Drugs/Alcohol/1st Offense-B.A.C.
unknown,’’ but later, on October 19, 2011, that initial
charge was ‘‘amended to .08’’ and a ‘‘nolo plea’’ was
entered. Under the section of the form titled ‘‘sentence
imposed,’’ the following handwritten entry appears:
‘‘$100, Loss—30 day, CS—10 hours, alcohol counseling,
costs, fees, assessments.’’ In its findings of fact and
conclusions of law, the court found that the court’s
disposition in Rhode Island constituted a conviction for
operating while under the influence in violation of § 3127-2 because ‘‘there’s a hundred dollar fine based on
what I see here. It provides for a jail sentence. That’s
all the same as here. And so there was a conviction
. . . .’’ The court further found that the expungement
of that conviction came after the date of the defendant’s
challenged guilty plea in Connecticut. Therefore, it
found that the expungement did not affect the availability of the defendant’s prior conviction as a valid
basis for sentencing him as a second offender. Finally,
the court concluded that the essential elements of the
Rhode Island statute under which he was previously
convicted were substantially the same as the essential
elements of § 14-227a. Accordingly, the court denied
the defendant’s motion to withdraw.
The defendant first contends that the trial court erred
in finding that his plea of nolo contendere in Rhode
Island was a conviction because the criminal complaint
he proffered to the court was unclear as to the sentence
he received for that offense. As an initial matter, we
note that ‘‘our appellate courts have determined that
the trial court’s conclusions as to the meaning and effect
of documents are best characterized as conclusions of
law and are therefore subject to plenary review.’’ State
v. Tenay, 156 Conn. App. 792, 809–10 n.11, 114 A.3d
931 (2015). Rhode Island General Laws § 31-27-2, titled
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‘‘Driving under influence of liquor or drugs,’’ provides
in relevant part: ‘‘(a) Whoever drives or otherwise operates any vehicle in the state while under the influence
of any intoxicating liquor . . . shall be guilty of a misdemeanor . . . .
‘‘(b) (1) Any person charged under subsection (a),
whose blood alcohol concentration is eight one-hundredths of one percent (.08%) . . . shall be guilty of
violating subsection (a) . . . .
‘‘(d) (1) (i) Every person found to have violated subsection (b) (1) shall be sentenced as follows: for a first
violation whose blood alcohol concentration is eight
one-hundredths of one percent (.08%) . . . shall be
subject to a fine of not less than one hundred dollars
($100) . . . shall be required to perform ten (10) . . .
hours of public community restitution, and/or shall be
imprisoned for up to one year . . . and his or her driver’s license shall be suspended for thirty (30) days
. . . .’’ Section 31-27-2 (f) provides in relevant part: ‘‘(2)
Persons convicted under the provisions of this chapter
shall be required to attend a special course on driving
while intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled
substance, and/or participate in an alcohol or drug treatment program . . . .’’
We first note that § 31-27-2, although appearing in
the Motor Vehicle Code, defines the offense of driving
while under the influence of liquor or drugs as a misdemeanor, clearly indicating that it is a criminal offense
subject to criminal penalties. When comparing the sentence imposed by the Rhode Island court, as it was
recorded on the defendant’s criminal complaint, to the
criminal penalties set forth in § 31-27-2, it appears that
the Rhode Island court gave the defendant the minimum
sentence he could have received under the statute for
a first violation. Part of the handwritten entry on the
complaint reads ‘‘Loss—30,’’ which can reasonably be
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interpreted to mean loss of driver’s license for 30 days,
corresponding to the mandatory minimum license suspension required upon conviction under that statute.
Another handwritten entry on the complaint reads,
‘‘CS—10,’’ which can likewise reasonably be interpreted
to mean the imposition of ten hours of public community restitution upon the defendant, with the letters
‘‘CS’’ signifying ‘‘community service,’’ as public community restitution was formerly denominated under the
statute before it was amended.9 Ten hours is the minimum term of public community restitution required
upon conviction under § 31-27-2 (d) (1) (i).
The defendant argues that it is not clear from reading
the complaint whether the handwritten entry of ‘‘$100’’
on that document means the defendant received a $100
fine or some other cost imposed in connection with
the case since it is not explicitly labeled as a fine or
otherwise. We agree with the trial court’s conclusion
that the $100 in the ‘‘sentence imposed’’ section of the
complaint was a fine because that amount is equal to
the mandatory minimum fine imposable under the statute, all other mandatory minimum requirements are
accounted for in other parts of the handwritten entry
under ‘‘sentence imposed,’’ and the order requiring that
‘‘costs, fees, and assessments’’ be paid as well would
be redundant if the $100 entry reflected an order to pay
court costs rather than a fine. Finally, the defendant was
ordered to attend alcohol treatment, another mandatory
sanction imposed on those convicted under the statute.
Therefore, we conclude that the Rhode Island criminal
complaint indicates that the defendant was sentenced
to the mandatory minimum sentence of a $100 fine, ten
hours of public community restitution, thirty day loss
9

Rhode Island General Laws § 31-27-21 provides: ‘‘The general assembly
declares that the words ‘public community service’ which appear throughout
this chapter shall now be substituted with and referred to as ‘public community restitution.’ ’’

Page 18A

CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

786

JANUARY, 2019

January 1, 2019

186 Conn. App. 770

State v. Young

of driver’s license, alcohol counseling, costs, fees, and
assessments. We further conclude that nothing about
this sentence suggests that the final disposition of the
case was not a conviction. Rhode Island General Laws
and Connecticut General Statutes both consider a plea
of nolo contendere followed by the payment of a fine
to be a conviction. See State v. Palkimas, 116 Conn.
App. 788, 795, 977 A.2d 705 (2009) (nolo contendere
plea has same effect as guilty plea); see also General
Statutes § 14-1 (22) and R.I. Gen. Laws § 31-10.3-3 (11)
(2010).
The defendant next argues that because the aforementioned special conditions were ordered by the
court, they must have been subject to some period of
probationary monitoring and supervision and, thus, that
the Rhode Island disposition should be interpreted as
a plea of nolo contendere followed by probation, which,
if successfully completed, is not considered a conviction under Rhode Island General Laws pursuant to § 1218-3. We conclude, however, that the defendant has not
proved that the disposition of his operating under the
influence charge in Rhode Island resulted in the imposition of a probationary sentence upon him, much less
that he successfully completed such a sentence, and
thus he never became entitled not to have his plea and
resulting sentence considered a criminal conviction.
Rhode Island General Laws § 12-18-3, provides, in
relevant part: ‘‘(a) Whenever any person . . . shall
plead nolo contendere, and the court places the person
on probation pursuant to § 12-18-1, then upon the completion of the probationary period, and absent a violation of the terms of the probation, the plea and
probation shall not constitute a conviction for any purpose. Evidence of a plea of nolo contendere followed
by a period of probation, completed without violation
of the terms of the probation, may not be introduced
in any court proceeding, except that records may be
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furnished to a sentencing court following the conviction
of an individual for a crime committed subsequent to
the successful completion of probation on the prior
offense.’’ ‘‘Section 12–18–3 is a statutory limitation on
the effects of a plea of nolo contendere followed by
probation. Section 12–18–3 (a) clearly and unambiguously mandates that, when a person enters a plea of nolo
contendere to a . . . charge and receives a sentence
of probation, the plea and probation shall not constitute
a conviction for any purpose.’’ (Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Poulin, 66 A.3d
419, 425 (R.I. 2013).
Section 31-27-2 (f) provides in relevant part: ‘‘(1)
There is established an alcohol and drug safety unit
within the division of motor vehicles to administer an
alcohol safety action program. The program shall provide for placement and follow-up for persons who are
required to pay the highway safety assessment. . . .
(2) Persons convicted under the provisions of this chapter shall be required to attend a special course on driving
while intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled
substance, and/or participate in an alcohol or drug treatment program. . . . A copy of any violation under this
section shall be forwarded by the court to the alcohol
and drug safety unit. In the event that persons convicted
under the provisions of this chapter fail to attend and
complete the above course or treatment program, as
ordered by the judge, then the person may be brought
before the court, and after a hearing as to why the order
of the court was not followed, may be sentenced to jail
for a period not exceeding one year.’’
There is nothing on the face of the criminal complaint
that indicates that the defendant was sentenced to a
period of probation following his nolo contendere plea
in Rhode Island, and the defendant presented no evidence from any source, including his own testimony,
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to the contrary. In addition, the fact that the court sentenced the defendant to several special conditions is
not intrinsically indicative of a probationary sentence
because the statute criminalizing driving under the
influence in Rhode Island creates an agency within the
division of motor vehicles to supervise such conditions.
Moreover, the mandatory minimum sentencing provisions in § 31-27-2 do not provide for a probationary
sentence. We also note that the defendant presented
no evidence that he was ever on probation in Rhode
Island, much less that he satisfactorily completed such
a sentence without a violation as required by § 12-183. In short, we conclude that the complaint does not
indicate that the defendant was sentenced to probation
after his nolo contendere plea in Rhode Island and,
thus, that § 12-18-3 is inapplicable to his resulting conviction for driving under the influence.
Last, the defendant argues that since the Rhode Island
conviction was expunged on December 19, 2016, it
could no longer be used to enhance the penalty in the
present case. The defendant contends that a contrary
finding would bring about the unjust result of convicting
him as a second offender although he had no record
of a previous conviction at the time he was sentenced.
We disagree.
Section 14-227a (g) provides in relevant part: ‘‘Any
person who violates any provision of subsection (a) of
this section shall . . . (2) for conviction of a second
violation within ten years after a prior conviction for
the same offense . . . (B) be imprisoned not more than
two years, one hundred twenty consecutive days of
which may not be suspended or reduced in any manner,
and sentenced to a period of probation . . . .’’ ‘‘[T]he
ten year rule applies to the length of time between the
most recent prior conviction of operating under the
influence and the conduct giving rise to the present
violation of § 14-227a, not the present conviction itself.’’
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(Emphasis in original.) State v. Tenay, supra, 156 Conn.
App. 799 n.5. ‘‘An interpretation of [§ 14-227a (g)] that
focuses on the time of conviction rather than the time
of violation could have bizarre and ineffective consequences. If eligibility for the enhanced penalty were to
depend upon the timing of conviction, then two offenders who were arrested on the same day for their [second] offense and who previously on the same dates had
been convicted . . . before of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or
drugs could be subject to disparate penalties if one of
the offenders were successful in strategically jockeying
for a delay in his trial.’’ (Footnote omitted.) State v.
Burns, 236 Conn. 18, 26, 670 A.2d 851 (1996).
It is, therefore, irrelevant whether the defendant’s
Rhode Island conviction was expunged at the time of
his plea, his motion to withdraw, or his sentencing. The
relevant time for sentence enhancement purposes was
the time of the defendant’s criminal conduct, March 24,
2016. It is uncontested that the Rhode Island conviction
had not been expunged by that time. We, thus, conclude
that the subsequent expungement of that conviction
does not affect the court’s consideration of the conviction for the purpose of imposing an enhanced penalty
upon him.10
B
The defendant next claims that the court erred
because insufficient evidence was presented to the trial
10
We note in passing that nothing about the fact that the conviction was
expunged indicates that the Rhode Island disposition was not a conviction
because Rhode Island provides for expungement for ‘‘[a]ny person who is
a first offender . . . for a felony or misdemeanor . . . provided, that no
person who has been convicted of a crime of violence shall have his or
her records and records of conviction expunged; and provided, that all
outstanding court-imposed or court-related fees, fines, costs, assessments,
charges, and/or any other monetary obligations have been paid, unless such
amounts are reduced or waived by order of the court.’’ R.I. Gen. Laws § 121.3-2 (a) (2010).
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court at the time of his guilty pleas to establish that
the essential elements of Rhode Island General Laws
§ 31-27-2 are substantially the same as those of § 14227a (a), and thus that a prior conviction under that
statute can properly be used as a basis for counting
him as a second offender in Connecticut. Because such
a finding was never made at the time of his guilty plea,
the defendant claims that his plea of guilty as a second
offender lacks a factual basis. We disagree.
The defendant first argues that the part B information
and the language used by the state in the plea canvass
to establish the factual basis for his alleged prior conviction were insufficient because they lacked the specificity required for the court to find that the essential
elements of the two statutes were substantially the
same. He argues that the part B information should
have referenced a specific Rhode Island statutory provision and subsection of such section to enable the court
to make the requisite comparison. He further argues
that the trial court failed to make that comparison or
to place such a finding on the record.
As our Supreme Court stated in Paulsen, however,
‘‘[t]he [trial] court is under no constitutionally imposed
duty to establish a factual basis for a guilty plea prior
to its acceptance unless the [trial] judge is put on notice
that there may be some need for such an inquiry . . .
A factual basis inquiry . . . is merely one way of satisfying the constitutional requirement that a plea be voluntary and intelligent.’’ (Citations omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Paulsen v. Mansen, supra,
203 Conn 490–91. In State v. Greene, 274 Conn. 134,
149, 874 A.2d 750 (2005), cert. denied, 548 U.S. 926, 126
S. Ct. 2981, 165 L. Ed. 2d. 988 (2006), the defendant
challenged the adequacy of the factual basis of his pleas
that were subsequently used against him in a trial with
similar factual allegations. Our Supreme Court concluded that the trial court had no knowledge at the
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time it accepted the pleas that the state would seek to
introduce them at a subsequent trial, so it was under
no duty to question the adequacy of the factual basis.
Id. Here, as in Greene, the trial court was under no duty
to question the similarity of the two statutes at issue
without a challenge from the defendant that they were
dissimilar. This is consistent with the purpose of establishing a factual basis for the plea, which is to put
the defendant on notice of the charges to which he is
pleading so that he does so voluntarily and intelligently.
The court, however, did make a finding that the essential elements of the two statutes were substantially the
same at the hearing on the motion to withdraw. The
defendant argued that such elements were not substantially the same because (1) the definitions of ‘‘operation’’ in the two states are not identical, (2) the
definitions of ‘‘motor vehicle’’ in the two states are not
identical, and (3) Rhode Island does not offer an alcohol
education program for first offenders. We disagree.
‘‘The issue of whether the elements of the [Rhode
Island] and Connecticut statutes under which the defendant was convicted were substantially the same calls
for the comparison and interpretation of those statutes,
which is a question of law.’’ State v. Commins, 276
Conn. 503, 513, 886 A.2d 824 (2005), overruled on other
grounds by State v. Elson, 311 Conn. 726, 91 A.3d 862
(2014). Therefore, our review is plenary. Duperry v.
Solnit, 261 Conn. 309, 318, 803 A.2d 287 (2002). Section
14-227a (g) prescribes an enhanced penalty for
operating a motor vehicle while under the influence for
any person who has a prior ‘‘conviction in any other
state of any offense the essential elements of which are
determined by the court to be substantially the same
as subdivision (1) or (2) or subsection (a) of this section . . . .’’
Section 14-227a (a) provides in relevant part: ‘‘A person commits the offense of operating a motor vehicle
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while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any
drug or both if such person operates a motor vehicle
(1) while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or
any drug or both, or (2) while such person has an elevated blood alcohol content. For the purposes of this
section, ‘elevated blood alcohol content’ means a ratio
of alcohol in the blood of such person that is eighthundredths of one per cent or more of alcohol by weight
. . . .’’ Rhode Island General Laws § 31-27-2 provides:
‘‘(a) Whoever drives or otherwise operates any vehicle
in the state while under the influence of any intoxicating
liquor . . . shall be guilty of a misdemeanor . . . .
(b)(1) Any person charged under subsection (a) . . .
whose blood alcohol concentration is eight one-hundredths of one percent (.08%) or more by weight . . .
shall be guilty of violating subsection (a) . . . . Proof
of guilt under this section may also be based on evidence that the person charged was under the influence
of intoxicating liquor, drugs, toluene, or any controlled
substance defined in chapter 28 of title 21, or any combination of these, to a degree that rendered the person
incapable of safely operating a vehicle. . . .’’ Read
together, the essential elements of § 14-227a (a) (1)
and (2) and the Rhode Island statutes are not only
substantially the same, they are identical, namely, that
the accused must (1) operate a motor vehicle (2) while
he is under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs.
Under both statutes, the identical level of blood alcohol
content at or above which a driver’s operation of a
motor vehicle is criminalized is .08 percent.
The defendant first argues that these essential elements are not substantially the same because the definition of operation differs between the two statutes.
Specifically, he argues that Connecticut law requires
an intentional act to prove operation, where the Rhode
Island’s statute is silent as to the mens rea required,
which creates the potential that certain conduct could
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be considered operation under Rhode Island law that
would not be considered operation in Connecticut.
‘‘Our case law provides that [a] person operates a
motor vehicle within the meaning of [§ 14-227a], when
in the vehicle he intentionally does any act or makes
use of any mechanical or electrical agency which alone
or in sequence will set in motion the motive power of
the vehicle.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State
v. Bereis, 117 Conn. App. 360, 366, 978 A.2d 1122 (2009).
‘‘Nothing in our definition of operation requires the
vehicle to be in motion or its motor to be running. . . .
The act of inserting the key into the ignition and the
act of turning the key within the ignition are preliminary
to starting the vehicle’s motor. Each act, in sequence
with other steps, will set in motion the motive power
of the vehicle. . . . Each act therefore constitutes
operation of the vehicle under the definition set forth
in [State v.] Swift, [125 Conn. 399, 6 A.2d 359 (1939)].
See, e.g., State v. Jones, 2 Conn. Cir. Ct. 605, 607, 203
A.2d 447 (1964) (attempting to start engine constitutes
operation, even if motor fails to catch).’’ (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Haight,
279 Conn. 546, 552–53, 903 A.2d 217 (2006).
Rhode Island General Laws § 31-1-17 (d) provides
that the term ‘‘ ‘[o]perator’ means every person, other
than a chauffeur, who drives or is in actual physical
control of a motor vehicle upon a highway or who is
exercising control over or steering a vehicle being
towed by a motor vehicle . . . .’’ In Rhode Island, operating a motor vehicle has been interpreted as requiring
more ‘‘than simple possession of a motor vehicle.’’ State
v. Capuano, 591 A.2d 35, 37 (R.I. 1991). In Capuano,
the Rhode Island Supreme Court found that a defendant
who was ‘‘sitting on a motorcycle with its engine running, headlight on, and kickstand up’’ did not operate
a motor vehicle for the purposes of § 31-27-2 . Id., 36–37.
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The omission of language clarifying the intent requirement in the Rhode Island statute does not render the
two statutes dissimilar because Rhode Island does not
criminalize conduct that is less active or dangerous if
performed while under the influence than that which
Connecticut defines as operation. Indeed, the conduct
found insufficient to constitute operation in Rhode
Island in Capuano would likely be considered an act
which alone or in sequence would set in motion the
motive power of a vehicle, as required to establish operation in Connecticut. Therefore, we conclude that the
essential element of operation is substantially the same
under both statutes.
The defendant next argues that the essential elements
of the statutes at issue are not substantially the same
because the definitions of motor vehicle are not identical in the two statutes. Specifically, the defendant notes
that certain types of vehicles are excluded from the
definition of motor vehicle under Connecticut law that
are not expressly excluded from the parallel definition
under Rhode Island law. General Statutes § 14-1 defines
motor vehicle as: ‘‘(58) any vehicle propelled or drawn
by any nonmuscular power, except aircraft, motor
boats, road rollers, baggage trucks used about railroad
stations or other mass transit facilities, electric batteryoperated wheel chairs when operated by persons with
physical disabilities at speeds not exceeding fifteen
miles per hour, golf carts operated on highways solely
for the purpose of crossing from one part of the golf
course to another, golf-cart-type vehicles operated on
roads or highways on the grounds of state institutions
by state employees, agricultural tractors, farm implements, such vehicles as run only on rails or tracks, selfpropelled snow plows, snow blowers and lawn mowers,
when used for the purposes for which they were
designed and operated at speeds not exceeding four
miles per hour, whether or not the operator rides on or
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walks behind such equipment, motor-driven cycles as
defined in section 14-286, special mobile equipment as
defined in section 14-165, mini-motorcycles, as defined
in section 14-289j, electric bicycles and any other vehicle not suitable for operation on a highway.’’
Rhode Island General Laws § 31-1-3 defines motor
vehicle as ‘‘every vehicle that is self-propelled or propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley
wires, but not operated upon rails, except vehicles
moved exclusively by human power, an EPAMD and
electric motorized bicycles as defined in subsection
(g) of this section, and motorized wheelchairs.’’ Both
statutes require that the motor vehicle be propelled by
some force other than human power and, although the
statutes vary in their exemptions of certain vehicles,
the overall effect of the definitions is to criminalize
the operation of automotive vehicles that could pose a
danger to the public if operated while under the influence of liquor or drugs. Therefore, we conclude that
the definitions of motor vehicle, which are a common
essential element of both statutes, are substantially the
same.
The defendant’s final argument, that Rhode Island’s
lack of a pretrial alcohol education program renders
the statutes at issue dissimilar, is also unpersuasive.
‘‘General Statutes § 54-56g establishes a pretrial alcohol
education program [in lieu of a possible conviction for
operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of
intoxicating liquor] for persons charged with a violation
of [General Statutes] § 14-227a. Applications for participation in this program may be granted or denied at the
discretion of the trial court.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. DiPaolo, 88 Conn. App. 53, 55 n. 1,
868 A.2d 98, cert. denied, 273 Conn. 935, 875 A.2d 544
(2005). The existence of an alcohol education program
is irrelevant to the similarity of the essential elements
of the offense of operating under the influence. The
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discretionary pretrial diversion program impacts the
disposition of the matter and is, therefore, unrelated to
the essential elements of the offense itself. Therefore,
we also reject this claim.
For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the
Rhode Island conviction was a qualifying conviction for
the purposes of sentence enhancement under § 14-227a
(g). Consequently, we conclude that the court did not
abuse its discretion in denying the defendant’s motion
to withdraw and vacate because it correctly applied the
law and reasonably could have reached the conclusion
that it did.
II
The defendant next claims that the manner in which
he was sentenced was illegal and that the three year
sentence imposed upon him for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence as a second offender was
illegal. Specifically, he claims that the court relied on
materially inaccurate information during sentencing,
that he had been previously convicted of a substantially
similar offense, and that his sentence on the charge of
operating while under the influence as a second
offender exceeds the maximum two year sentence
allowed by law. We agree that the sentence imposed
exceeds the statutory maximum. The following additional facts are necessary to our review of these claims.
On June 26, 2017, the court sentenced the defendant
as follows: on the charge of operating a motor vehicle
while under the influence as a second offender, the
defendant was sentenced to a term of three years of
incarceration, execution suspended after five months,
120 days of which is a mandatory minimum, followed
by two years of probation, and on the charge of evading
responsibility, he was sentenced to a term of one year
incarceration, execution suspended after thirty days,
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followed by two years of probation. The court ordered
these sentences to be served concurrently.
Practice Book § 43-22 provides that ‘‘[t]he judicial
authority may at any time correct an illegal sentence
or other illegal disposition, or it may correct a sentence
imposed in an illegal manner or any other disposition
made in an illegal manner.’’ ‘‘An illegal sentence is
essentially one which either exceeds the relevant statutory maximum limits, violates a defendant’s right
against double jeopardy, is ambiguous, or is internally
contradictory. . . . We previously have noted that a
defendant may challenge his or her criminal sentence
on the ground that it is illegal by raising the issue on
direct appeal or by filing a motion pursuant to . . .
§ 43–22 with the judicial authority, namely, the trial
court. . . . [B]oth the trial court, and this court, on
appeal, have the power, at any time, to correct a sentence that is illegal. . . . [T]he issue is one of law, and
we afford it plenary review.’’ (Citations omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) State v. Ruiz, 173 Conn. App.
608, 617, 164 A.3d 837 (2017).
A
The defendant claims that his sentence was imposed
in an illegal manner because the court relied on materially inaccurate information during sentencing, specifically, that the defendant had a previous conviction for
a substantially similar offense. On that score, the defendant repeats the same arguments that he advanced in
support of his motion to withdraw and that form the
basis of his appeal from the denial of the same, namely,
that his October 19, 2011 Rhode Island disposition was
never a conviction and that, in the alternative, it was
not a conviction at the time of sentencing because it
had been expunged, and that the essential elements of
the statutes are not substantially the same as required
by § 14-227a (g). We again reject these claims.
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‘‘A sentence is invalid if it is imposed in an illegal
manner . . . . Within the definition of sentences
imposed in an illegal manner, our jurisprudence
includes sentences which violate [a] defendant’s right
. . . to be sentenced by a judge relying on accurate
information. . . . To prevail on a claim that a sentence
is invalid because a sentencing court relied on inaccurate information, a defendant must show . . . that the
judge relied on that information . . . . A sentencing
court demonstrates actual reliance on misinformation
when the court gives explicit attention to it, [bases] its
sentence at least in part on it, or gives specific consideration to the information before imposing sentence.’’
(Emphasis omitted; citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Martin M., 143 Conn. App.
140, 144–45, 70 A.3d 135, cert. denied, 309 Conn. 919,
70 A.3d 41 (2013).
In the instant matter, it is clear that the court, in
imposing sentence, relied on material information that
the defendant had previously been convicted of a substantially similar offense because it sentenced the
defendant on the charge of operating while under the
influence as a second offender. However, we conclude
that the information relied on by the court, that the
defendant had been convicted of a substantially similar
offense, was accurate information. As analyzed in depth
in part I of this opinion, the disposition in the 2011
Rhode Island case was a conviction for a substantially
similar offense and the subsequent expungement did
not affect the availability of that conviction for sentencing enhancement purposes because it was in effect at
the relevant time of the defendant’s criminal conduct
in this case. Therefore, the defendant’s claim that he
was sentenced in an illegal manner must also fail.
B
Finally, the defendant claims that the three year sentence imposed by the trial court for operating a motor
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vehicle while under the influence as a second offender
exceeded the statutory maximum prescribed by law.
The state concedes that the challenged sentence was
illegal. We agree.
Section 14-227a (g) provides, in relevant part, that
any person who violates subsection (a) shall ‘‘(2) for
conviction of a second violation within ten years after
a prior conviction for the same offense . . . (B) be
imprisoned not more than two years, one hundred
twenty consecutive days of which may not be suspended or reduced in any manner, and sentenced to a
period of probation . . . .’’ Section 14-224 (g) (2) provides: ‘‘Any person who violates the provisions of subdivision (3) of subsection (b) or subsection (c) of this
section shall be fined not less than seventy-five dollars
or more than six hundred dollars or be imprisoned not
more than one year or be both fined and imprisoned,
and for any subsequent offense shall be fined not less
than one hundred dollars or more than one thousand
dollars or be imprisoned not more than one year or be
both fined and imprisoned.’’ Although the total effective
sentence as agreed upon by both parties would be legal
if the maximum sentence were given for both operating
while under the influence as a second offender and
evading responsibility, respectively, to run consecutively, the current sentence of three years of incarceration on the § 14-227a charge exceeds the maximum
allowable sentence of two years of incarceration.
Because the defendant’s original plea agreement
included an aggregate sentence for both operating while
under the influence as a second offender and evading
responsibility, although we find error only as to the
former, we must vacate the sentences as to both charges
and remand for resentencing pursuant to the aggregate
package theory. See State v. Raucci, 21 Conn. App. 557,
562, 575 A.2d 234, cert. denied, 215 Conn. 817, 576 A.2d
546 (1990) (proper remedy when defendant appeals
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punishment pursuant to multicount conviction is to
vacate sentence in its entirety). Accordingly, we vacate
the defendant’s sentences on all charges and remand
the case to the trial court for resentencing under the
terms of the original plea agreement and in accordance
with law.
The judgment is reversed only as to the defendant’s
sentence and the case is remanded for further proceedings according to law. The judgment is affirmed in all
other respects.
In this opinion the other judges concurred.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., TRUSTEE v. JOSEPH S.
TARZIA ET AL.
(AC 40229)
Keller, Elgo and Sullivan, Js.
Syllabus
The plaintiff bank sought to foreclose a mortgage on certain real property
of the defendant T. The trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for
summary judgment as to liability and, thereafter, rendered judgment of
strict foreclosure. Subsequently, the trial court denied T’s motion to
open and vacate the judgment on the basis of fraud, and T appealed to
this court. Held:
1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying T’s motion to open
and vacate the judgment of strict foreclosure or in failing to schedule
a hearing on the motion to open and vacate: there was no indication in
the record that T actually requested oral argument or an evidentiary
hearing during the proceedings before the court, the record demonstrated that the court did, in fact, hold hearings on other motions for
which T made requests and provided T’s counsel with an opportunity
to make arguments on those other motions, and even if T was denied
an evidentiary hearing after requesting one, the information included
in the motion itself was insufficient to constitute the necessary threshold
showing to entitle him to one; moreover, to warrant opening and vacating
the judgment based on new evidence of fraud, a party must demonstrate
that it was diligent during trial in trying to discover and expose the
fraud, and that there is clear proof of that fraud, and T did not make
the requisite showing to warrant an opening of the judgment.
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2. This court declined to reach the merits of T’s claim that the trial court
erred in concluding that the plaintiff possessed the note when it filed
this foreclosure action; that claim was squarely before this court in a
prior appeal involving the parties in this matter and was resolved on
the merits in the plaintiff’s favor, and under the doctrine of res judicata,
T could not have the opportunity to relitigate the matter in this appeal.
3. T’s claim that his due process right was violated by the trial court’s failure
to view his case in its entirety, as mandated by the mosaic rule, was
not reviewable, T having failed to brief the claim adequately, as his brief
was devoid of any cognizable legal analysis in support of his claim as
to how the mosaic rule, which is unique to dissolution cases, was applicable to the facts of his case.
Argued October 15, 2018—officially released January 1, 2019
Procedural History

Action to foreclose a mortgage on certain real property of the named defendant and for other relief,
brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of
Stamford-Norwalk, where the court, Mintz, J., granted
the plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment as to liability; thereafter, the court rendered judgment of strict
foreclosure; subsequently, the court, Hon. Kevin Tierney, judge trial referee, denied the named defendant’s
motion to open and vacate the judgment, and the named
defendant appealed to this court. Affirmed.
Joseph S. Tarzia, self-represented, the appellant
(named defendant).
Christopher J. Picard, for the appellee (plaintiff).
Opinion

KELLER, J. This is the third appeal in this foreclosure
action to reach this court in the nearly ten years this
matter has been litigated. The named defendant Joseph
S. Tarzia1 appeals from the trial court’s denial of his
1
The complaint also named as defendants National City Bank and Christine Tarzia. On September 7, 2012, the trial court clerk granted a motion
for default against National City Bank for its failure to plead, and the clerk
granted a motion for default against Christine Tarzia for her failure to appear.
Accordingly, any references to the defendant are solely to Joseph S. Tarzia,
unless otherwise noted.
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motion to open and vacate the court’s judgment of strict
foreclosure. Although the self-represented2 defendant’s
appellate brief is not a model of clarity, we construe
his claims to be that the court (1) erred by denying his
motion to open and vacate based on new evidence of
fraud, (2) erred by concluding that the plaintiff possessed the note when it filed this foreclosure action,
and (3) violated his right to due process by failing to
view his case in its entirety as mandated by the mosaic
rule. We disagree.
The following relevant facts and procedural history
inform our review. On or about June 22, 2007, the defendant executed a note for a loan in the amount of
$1,334,000. As security for payment of the note, he executed a mortgage on his property at 138 North Lake
Drive in Stamford. On or about February 18, 2009, the
plaintiff, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee for the certificateholders of Structured Asset Mortgage Investments II, Inc., Structured Asset Mortgage Investments
II Trust 2007-AR4, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates,
Series 2007-AR-4, initiated this foreclosure action alleging that the note was in default. In its complaint, the
plaintiff indicated that it had elected to accelerate the
balance due on the note, declared the note to be due
in full, and sought to foreclose on the mortgage securing
the note. On May 7, 2012, after extensive litigation, the
trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for summary
judgment as to liability and subsequently rendered a
judgment of strict foreclosure on May 28, 2013. The
defendant appealed from that judgment, and, on June
3, 2014, this court affirmed the trial court’s judgment
of strict foreclosure. See Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v.
Tarzia, 150 Conn. App. 660, 667, 92 A.3d 983, cert.
denied, 314 Conn. 905, 99 A.3d 635 (2014).
2
The defendant is representing himself on appeal but had retained counsel
to represent him in his proceedings in the trial court.
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On September 24, 2015, the plaintiff filed a motion
to reset the law day. Although the defendant did not
object to that specific motion, on March 16, 2016, he
filed a motion to vacate the judgment and dismiss the
action based on various challenges to the plaintiff’s
standing, to which the plaintiff objected. On January 9,
2017, the trial court ultimately denied the defendant’s
motion to vacate and dismiss. The defendant filed a
motion to reargue on January 27, 2017, which the court
denied on February 16, 2017. On February 14, 2017, the
court granted the plaintiff’s September 24, 2015 motion
to reset the law day, setting it to March 14, 2017.
On February 15, 2017, the plaintiff filed a motion to
terminate any prospective appellate stay should the
defendant decide to appeal. On February 24, 2017, the
defendant timely appealed to this court from the trial
court’s denial of his motion to vacate and dismiss. On
February 27, 2017, three days after the defendant filed
that appeal, the trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion
to terminate the appellate stay. On March 6, 2017, the
defendant filed in this court a motion for an emergency
stay of execution and a motion for review of the trial
court’s order terminating the appellate stay. Additionally, on March 9, 2017, the defendant filed a motion in
the trial court requesting reargument on the court’s
order terminating the appellate stay and a new motion
to open and vacate the judgment based on allegations
of fraud.
On March 10, 2017, this court denied the defendant’s
motion for an emergency stay of execution of judgment.
This court granted review with respect to the defendant’s motion for review of the trial court’s order granting the termination of the appellate stay but denied the
relief requested therein. Thereafter, on March 13, 2017,
the trial court granted the defendant’s motion to reargue
the court’s order terminating the appellate stay but
refused to reimpose a stay. On the same day, the trial
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court denied the defendant’s motion to open and vacate
the judgment based on fraud. That denial is the subject
of this appeal.3 Additional facts will be set forth as necessary.
I
Turning to the defendant’s first claim on appeal, he
argues that the court erred by not granting his motion
to open and vacate based on new evidence of fraud.
He also argues that the court erred by not giving him
‘‘a proper hearing of his motion’’ and ‘‘failed to consider
brand new evidence.’’ We disagree.4
3
The defendant filed the present appeal on March 14, 2017. We note that
during the pendency of this appeal, this court dismissed as frivolous the
defendant’s then pending appeal from the denial of his March, 2016 motion
to vacate and dismiss.
We also note that on the same day that this appeal was filed, the defendant
filed with the trial court a notice of removal to the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York, Manhattan Division. However,
on March 31, 2017, the federal District Court, Karas, J., remanded the case
back to the Connecticut Superior Court. The federal District Court concluded
that the defendant’s notice of removal suffered from ‘‘numerous incurable
defects.’’ It held that the notice of removal was defective in that it was
filed in the improper venue, there was no federal question jurisdiction, and
nothing remained to be adjudicated by the federal court because judgment
already had been rendered in the action.
Before we address the merits of the defendant’s claims on appeal, we
address summarily an issue raised in the plaintiff’s appellate brief. The
plaintiff claims that the defendant’s appeal is moot because title had vested
in it due to the passing of the law days. Prior to filing its appellate brief,
however, the plaintiff filed a motion to dismiss the appeal with this court,
claiming that this appeal was moot because the law days had passed. This
court denied the plaintiff’s motion to dismiss on May 24, 2017. In previously
denying the plaintiff’s motion to dismiss, this court already had resolved
the claim in that motion, which is identical to the plaintiff’s present argument,
and we decline to revisit the merits of the claim. See, e.g., Northland Two
Pillars, LLC v. Harry Grodsky & Co., 133 Conn. App. 226, 229 n.3, 35 A.3d
333 (2012); R.F. Daddario & Sons, Inc. v. Shelansky, 123 Conn. App. 725,
730, 3 A.3d 957 (2010).
4
To the extent the defendant is arguing that the court lacked jurisdiction
to deny his motion to open and vacate due to his attempted removal to
federal court, we find this argument unpersuasive. ‘‘Removal is effective
upon filing a notice of removal in both the relevant federal and state courts,
and providing notice to the other parties. 28 U.S.C. § 1446 (a), (d). At that
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We briefly set forth additional facts necessary for
this claim. On March 9, 2017, the defendant filed his
motion to open and vacate based on allegations of fraud.
Therein, he appeared to set forth allegations of fraud
resulting from defective releases of prior mortgages
from other lenders. In particular, he appeared to claim
that the loan, which is the subject of this action, was
not effective because a prior mortgage was not paid
off due to an alleged fraudulent release.5 He argued that
a new book was released that ‘‘tipped him off’’ to these
alleged instances of fraud. At the conclusion of his
motion, his sole request was for the court to open and
vacate the judgment of strict foreclosure. On March 13,
2017, the court denied his motion.
‘‘Generally, an appeal must be filed within twenty
days of the date notice of the judgment or decision is
given. . . . In the context of an appeal from the denial
of a motion to open judgment, [i]t is well established
in our jurisprudence that [w]here an appeal has been
taken from the denial of a motion to open, but the
appeal period has run with respect to the underlying
judgment, [this court] ha[s] refused to entertain issues
relating to the merits of the underlying case and ha[s]
time, ‘the State court shall proceed no further unless and until the case is
remanded.’ 28 U.S.C. § 1446 (d). ‘A proper filing of a notice of removal
immediately strips the state court of its jurisdiction.’ Yarnevic v. Brink’s,
Inc., 102 F.3d 753, 754 (4th Cir.1996). Thus, even if a case is later remanded,
it is under the sole jurisdiction of the federal court from the time of filing
until the court remands it back to state court.’’ In re Diet Drugs, 282 F.3d
220, 231 n.6 (3d Cir. 2002).
In the present case, the court denied the defendant’s motion to open and
vacate on March 13, 2017. However, the defendant’s notice of removal was
not filed with the trial court until March 14, 2017. Because the court denied
the defendant’s motion on March 13, 2017—the day before the notice of
removal suspended the trial court’s jurisdiction—the court retained jurisdiction to deny the defendant’s motion to open and vacate.
5
We note, however, that the defendant admits that he did, in fact, take
out the loan and that he has been the owner of the subject property since
he purchased it.
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limited our consideration to whether the denial of the
motion to open was proper. . . . When a motion to
open is filed more than twenty days after the judgment,
the appeal from the denial of that motion can test only
whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing
to open the judgment and not the propriety of the merits
of the underlying judgment.’’ (Citation omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v.
Ruggiri, 164 Conn. App. 479, 484, 137 A.3d 878 (2016).
In the present case, it is clear that the defendant’s
motion to open was filed well beyond the twenty day
appeal period from when the trial court rendered the
judgment of strict foreclosure. The defendant already
has appealed from the underlying judgment of strict
foreclosure, and this court affirmed the trial court’s
decision. See Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Tarzia, supra,
150 Conn. App. 667. Therefore, we will review the defendant’s claim under an abuse of discretion standard and
will not address the merits of the judgment of strict foreclosure.
‘‘In determining whether the trial court abused its
discretion [in denying a motion to open], this court
must make every reasonable presumption in favor of
its action. . . . The manner in which [this] discretion
is exercised will not be disturbed so long as the court
could reasonably conclude as it did.’’ (Citations omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Gillis v. Gillis, 214
Conn. 336, 340–41, 572 A.2d 323 (1990); see also Flater
v. Grace, 291 Conn. 410, 419, 969 A.2d 157 (2009).
‘‘When a party seeks to open and vacate a judgment
based on new evidence allegedly showing the judgment
is tainted by fraud, he must show, inter alia, that he
was diligent during trial in trying to discover and expose
the fraud, and that there is clear proof of that fraud.’’
(Emphasis in original.) Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Owen,
174 Conn. App. 102, 108–109, 165 A.3d 275, cert. granted,
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327 Conn. 955, 171 A.3d 1051 (2017) (appeal withdrawn
July 24, 2018), citing Chapman Lumber, Inc. v. Tager,
288 Conn. 69, 107, 952 A.2d 1 (2008). ‘‘Some evidence
suggesting actual wrongdoing . . . and not merely the
specter of such, is necessary in order to set aside a
final adjudication.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Id., 108. To be entitled to an evidentiary hearing, the
defendant is required to ‘‘make some threshold showing
that his claims had substance . . . .’’ Chapman Lumber, Inc. v. Tager, supra, 108; see Bruno v. Bruno, 146
Conn. App. 214, 231, 76 A.3d 725 (2013) (‘‘[i]f the moving
party demonstrates to the court that there is probable
cause to believe that the judgment was obtained by
fraud, the court may permit discovery’’).
We first address the defendant’s argument that the
trial court erred by not giving him ‘‘a proper hearing of
his motion’’ and ‘‘failed to consider brand new evidence.’’ Although the defendant argues that he was
denied a proper hearing, we have found no indication
in the record before us that the defendant actually
requested one. In the defendant’s motion, he simply
entreated the court to open and vacate the judgment
of strict foreclosure for the reasons he provided therein.
Absent from the record is a request that he be given an
evidentiary hearing or oral argument on it.6 The record
demonstrates that the court did in fact hold hearings
on the motions for which the defendant made requests.
For example, the defendant filed a motion for an immediate hearing to reset the law day, following which the
court held a hearing. Additionally, the court provided
the defendant’s counsel with an opportunity to make
arguments as to why reargument was warranted with
respect to the court’s order granting the plaintiff’s
motion to terminate the appellate stay.
6

To the extent the defendant is arguing that he was entitled to oral
argument, a motion to open is not a motion for which oral argument is
permitted as of right. See Practice Book § 11-18 (a); Valenzisi v. Connecticut
Education Assn., 150 Conn. App. 47, 50 n.2, 90 A.3d 324 (2014).
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There is also no indication in the record presented
for review that the defendant requested oral argument
or an evidentiary hearing during any proceeding before
the court. The only relevant transcript provided to us
specific to the motion to open, which was included in
the plaintiff’s appendix, appears to be from a hearing
to determine whether reargument was proper on the
court’s decision to terminate the appellate stay.7
Although the court acknowledged at that hearing some
of the other motions before it and ultimately denied
the defendant’s March 9, 2017 motion to open and
vacate, there is no indication that an evidentiary hearing
or oral argument was, in fact, requested by the defendant on that particular motion.8 The transcript shows
that the court recognized that Attorney Andre Cayo,
who was retained by the defendant to represent him
with respect to the motion to open and vacate, had
filed a limited appearance form with the court to represent the defendant on that motion. However, the defendant has not directed us to any place in the record
where either he or his attorney requested, and were
denied, an evidentiary hearing or oral argument on the
7
During that proceeding, the court explained that the defendant represented himself in his appeals, while he had counsel to represent him in the
trial court. The court further explained that there are instances when ‘‘cross
over’’ occurs when motions ‘‘filed in the Appellate Court are filed for appellate purposes [but] require the services of both the Appellate Court and the
trial [c]ourt . . . .’’ In light of these circumstances, the court indicated it
would allow the defendant to ‘‘speak for himself in this matter,’’ in addition
to his hired counsel. The court noted that Attorney Andre Cayo, who recently
had been retained by the defendant, had filed a limited appearance form to
represent him on the motion to open and vacate. Attorney David Scalzi
represented the defendant on other matters before the trial court, including
arguing why the court should allow reargument on the court’s granting of
the plaintiff’s motion to terminate the appellate stay.
8
Although the defendant argues that the court failed to consider new
evidence, the court indicated that it ‘‘read each and every single motion
before it,’’ prior to denying, among others, the defendant’s motion to open
and vacate. As such, the court clearly considered the allegations of fraud
the defendant included and attached to his motion before denying it.
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motion. After the court denied the motion to open during the proceedings on March 13, Cayo never objected
to that decision (or asked to be heard on the motion).
The transcript shows that the court was more than
willing to allow the defendant, in his individual capacity,
an opportunity to address the court that day, but he
failed to return to the courtroom after a brief recess.9
On the basis of our review, we do not conclude that
the trial court abused its discretion in failing to schedule
a hearing on the defendant’s motion to open and vacate
when he failed to request one in the first place. Additionally, even if we were to assume arguendo that the defendant was denied an evidentiary hearing after requesting
one, the information included in the motion to open
and vacate the judgment itself was insufficient to constitute the necessary ‘‘threshold showing’’ to entitle him
to one. See Chapman Lumber, Inc. v. Tager, supra,
288 Conn. 108 (‘‘party seeking relief must demonstrate,
before being allowed to present his case, that he has
a substantial case to present’’ [emphasis in original;
internal quotation marks omitted]).
We further conclude that the court did not abuse its
discretion in denying the motion to open and vacate.
As we previously noted, to warrant opening and vacating the judgment based on new evidence of fraud, a
party must demonstrate that it was ‘‘diligent during trial
in trying to discover and expose the fraud, and that
9
During the proceedings on March 13, 2017, the court, at one point, took
a fifteen minute recess. Upon returning, the court recognized that both of
the defendant’s counsel were present but noted that the defendant had not
returned. The court took another brief recess in an attempt to determine the
defendant’s whereabouts because it indicated previously that the defendant
would be given ‘‘the opportunity to . . . address the [c]ourt because of the
hybrid representation considerations’’ he had with his appeals pending. After
the court went back into session, the court stated that the defendant ‘‘has
chosen to leave the [c]ourt on his own, although he was invited to remain
and to be able to address the [c]ourt he’s chosen to leave the court, that’s
within his rights.’’
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there is clear proof of that fraud.’’ Id., 107. It is apparent
from the record that the defendant did not make the
requisite showing to warrant an opening of the judgment.
Just as the defendant’s appellate brief was not a
model of clarity, nor was his motion to open and vacate
judgment. From what we can discern, the defendant’s
motion sets forth allegations of fraud due to defective
releases of mortgages from prior lenders. He appears
to argue that the loan, which is the subject of this
action, was not effective because a prior mortgage was
not paid off due to an alleged fraudulent release. He
argued that a new book about the Federal Reserve was
released that ‘‘tipped him off’’ to these alleged instances
of fraud. The defendant indicated that he found (presumably after reading this ‘‘new book’’) that ‘‘the loans
on his property already went toxic in 2002 and 2004
. . . with a fraudulent loan release dated October 13,
2004. . . .’’ However, his arguments are couched in a
conclusory manner and are difficult to follow. He
appended to his motion copies of certain releases of
mortgages from 2004, but it is unclear how those
releases demonstrate that a fraud occurred. While the
defendant provided a gallimaufry of legal citations in
his motion, none appear apposite to his arguments. He
also points to no efforts by any prior lender attempting
to enforce the purportedly defectively released earlier
loan. For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the
court was well within its discretion in denying the defendant’s motion to open and vacate.
II
The defendant next argues that the trial court erred
by concluding that the plaintiff possessed the note when
it filed this foreclosure action. He thus argues that the
plaintiff did not have standing to commence this present
action. The plaintiff, however, asserts that this court

January 1, 2019

CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

186 Conn. App. 800

JANUARY, 2019

Page 43A

811

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Tarzia

previously has addressed this claim in the defendant’s
prior appeal. We agree with the plaintiff and decline to
reach the merits of this claim.
‘‘[T]he doctrine of res judicata, or claim preclusion,
[provides that] a former judgment on a claim, if rendered on the merits, is an absolute bar to a subsequent
action on the same claim. A judgment is final not only
as to every matter which was offered to sustain the
claim, but also as to any other admissible matter which
might have been offered for that purpose. . . . The
rule of claim preclusion prevents reassertion of the
same claim regardless of what additional or different
evidence or legal theories might be advanced in support
of it. . . . Furthermore, [t]he judicial doctrines of res
judicata and collateral estoppel are based on the public
policy that a party should not be able to relitigate a
matter which it already has had an opportunity to litigate. . . . Stability in judgments grants to parties and
others the certainty in the management of their affairs
which results when a controversy is finally laid to rest.
. . . The conservation of judicial resources is of paramount importance as our trial dockets are deluged with
new cases daily. We further emphasize that where a
party has fully and fairly litigated his claims, he may
be barred from future actions on matters not raised in
the prior proceeding. But the scope of matters precluded necessarily depends on what has occurred in
the former adjudication.’’ (Citations omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Tirozzi v. Shelby Ins. Co.,
50 Conn. App. 680, 685–86, 719 A.2d 62, cert. denied,
247 Conn. 945, 723 A.2d 323 (1998).
‘‘The transactional test measures the preclusive effect
of a prior judgment, which includes any claims relating
to the cause of action that were actually made or might
have been made. . . . A cause of action for the purpose
of the transactional test is the group of facts which is
claimed to have brought about an unlawful injury to
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the plaintiff. . . . It is well settled that [a] judgment
may be final in a res judicata sense as to a part of an
action although litigation continues as to the rest. . . .
Thus, res judicata may operate to preclude a claim
decided in a previous proceeding within the same case.
. . . [F]or purposes of res judicata, a judgment will
ordinarily be considered final if it is not tentative, provisional, or contingent and represents the completion of
all steps in the adjudication of the claim by the court,
short of any steps by way of execution or enforcement
that may be consequent upon the particular kind of
adjudication.’’ (Citations omitted; internal quotation
marks omitted.) Honan v. Dimyan, 63 Conn. App. 702,
707–708, 778 A.2d 989, cert. denied, 258 Conn. 942, 786
A.2d 430 (2001).
The defendant’s claim that the plaintiff did not possess the note at the time it filed this foreclosure action
was squarely before this court in the parties’ initial
appeal. See Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Tarzia, supra,
150 Conn. App. 665. This court resolved the issue on
its merits in the plaintiff’s favor. We concluded that
‘‘the plaintiff pleaded that it is the holder of the note
upon which the defendant defaulted and the plaintiff
foreclosed, and it submitted to the court an affidavit
that included and incorporated by reference copies of
the note, mortgage and assignment of the mortgage.
The plaintiff, therefore, established its prima facie case.
The defendant did not attempt to rebut the plaintiff’s
status as a holder of the note and mortgage; indeed, he
did not file any opposition to the plaintiff’s motion for
summary judgment. Accordingly, the plaintiff was entitled to avail itself of the rebuttable presumption established in RMS Residential Properties, LLC [v. Miller,
303 Conn. 224, 32 A.3d 307 (2011), overruled in part by
J.E. Robert Co. v. Signature Properties, LLC, 309 Conn.
307, 325 n.18, 71 A.3d 492 (2013)].’’ Id.
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In light of the foregoing, we decline to allow the
defendant the opportunity to relitigate the matter in
this appeal. See, e.g., Brochard v. Brochard, 185 Conn.
App. 204, 231,
A.3d
(2018) (due to application of
res judicata doctrine, appellant barred from relitigating
same claim decided on its merits in prior appeal) (collecting cases).
III
In the defendant’s final claim, he asserts that the
court violated his right to due process by failing to view
his case in its entirety as mandated by the mosaic rule.
Because this claim is inadequately briefed, we decline
to afford it review.
‘‘Although we are solicitous of the rights of [selfrepresented] litigants . . . [s]uch a litigant is bound by
the same rules . . . and procedure as those qualified
to practice law. . . . [W]e are not required to review
claims that are inadequately briefed. . . . We consistently have held that [a]nalysis, rather than mere
abstract assertion, is required in order to avoid abandoning an issue by failure to brief the issue properly.
. . . As this court has observed, [a]ssignments of error
which are merely mentioned but not briefed beyond a
statement of the claim will be deemed abandoned and
will not be reviewed by this court.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Henderson v. State, 151 Conn. App.
246, 262–63, 95 A.3d 1 (2014).
The portion of the defendant’s brief that alleges a
violation of his due process right is devoid of any cognizable legal analysis in support of his claim. Other than
a broad conclusory assertion that his due process right
was violated by the court’s failure to view his case
in its entirety as mandated by the ‘‘mosaic rule,’’ the
defendant has provided no analysis of how the mosaic

Page 46A

CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

814

JANUARY, 2019

January 1, 2019

186 Conn. App. 800

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Tarzia

rule is applicable to the facts of his case.10 On the basis
of his inadequate briefing on the issue, we deem this
claim abandoned and decline to afford it review. See
Araujo v. Araujo, 158 Conn. App. 429, 431, 119 A.3d
22 (2015).
The judgment is affirmed and the case is remanded
for the purpose of setting new law days.
In this opinion, the other judges concurred.

10

We note that the ‘‘mosaic rule’’ is a doctrine unique to dissolution cases.
The ‘‘mosaic rule’’ is premised on the concept that ‘‘[t]he rendering of
judgment in a complicated dissolution case is a carefully crafted mosaic,
each element of which may be dependent on the other.’’ See, e.g., Ehrenkranz
v. Ehrenkranz, 2 Conn. App. 416, 424, 479 A.2d 826 (1984). The disturbance
of one particular financial order, therefore, often requires the reconsideration of all orders. See Gershman v. Gershman, 286 Conn. 341, 351–52, 943
A.2d 1091 (2008) (because financial orders in dissolution action are carefully
crafted mosaic with interwoven components, disturbance of particular order
on appeal often requires remand for reconsideration of all orders). The
defendant has not provided any analysis on how this doctrine applies to
his foreclosure action.

